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16.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

	 xiii)	 Agro Tech Foods Limited Employee Stock Option Plan
	 The Company instituted the ‘Agro Tech Foods Limited Employee Stock Option Plan’ (“Plan”) to grant equity-based 

incentives to its eligible employees. The Company has established a trust called the ‘Agro Tech ESOP Trust’ (“Trust”) 
to implement the Plan.

	 Under the Plan a maximum of 1,218,463 (Previous year: 1,218,463) options will be granted to the eligible employees. 
All these options are planned to be settled in equity at the time of exercise. These options have an exercise price 
of Rs. 75.10, Rs. 170.10, Rs. 131.70 and Rs. 147.40 per share, granted during the years ended 31 March 2007, 31 
March 2008, 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 respectively and vest on a graded basis as follows:

Vesting period from the grant date  Vesting schedule 
On completion of 12 months 25%
On completion of 24 months 25%
On completion of 36 months 25%
On completion of 48 months 25%

Stock option activity under the Plan was as follows:

For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009 

Number of equity shares:
Outstanding at the beginning of the year  431,370  236,884 
Granted during the year  229,178  226,544 
Excercised during the year  (18,179)  — 
Forfeited during the year  (32,965)  (32,058)
Outstanding at the end of the year  609,404  431,370 

	 The Company follows the intrinsic value method to calculate employee compensation cost. There is no charge 
to the Profit and Loss Account as the exercise price of the shares is greater than or equal to the market value 
of the shares. Amount recoverable from employee stock option trust disclosed in the Balance Sheet represents 
balance recoverable from the trust on account of the shares purchased and held by the trust. 

	 Proforma disclosure
	 In accordance with Securities Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock 

Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 had the compensation cost for stock option plans been recognised based 
on the fair value at the date of grant in accordance with Black Scholes model, the proforma amounts of the 
Company’s net profit and earnings per share would have been as follows:

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009 

Profit after taxation
- As reported  251.40  208.49 
- Proforma  235.52  195.08 
Earnings per share
Basic
- Number of shares  24,369,264  24,369,264 
- EPS as reported (Rs.)  10.32  8.56 
- Proforma EPS (Rs.)  9.67  8.00 

The following assumptions were used for calculation of fair value of grants:
For the year ended  

31 March 2010 
 For the year ended  

31 March 2009 
Weighted average fair value (Rs.)  88.52  86.28 
Dividend yield (%)  0.68  — 
Expected volatility (%)  60.18  57.50 
Risk-free interest (%)  7.00  9.19 
Expected term (in years)  5.50 to 7  5.50 to 7 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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16. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
	 xiv) Additional information pursuant to the provisions of paragraph 3, 4c and 4d of Part II of Schedule VI of

Companies Act,1956.

a) Class of goods, capacity and production :

Class of goods Unit

Licensed capacity Installed capacity @ Actual production
As at  

31 March 
2010

As at  
31 March 

2009

 As at  
31 March 

2010 

As at  
31 March 

2009

 As at  
31 March 

2010 

As at  
31 March 

2009

- Edible oils M T N . A. N . A.  N . A. N . A.  N . A.  1,896+*
- Refined edible oils M T N . A. N . A.  24,000 13,500  38,836+ 40,518+
- De oiled cake M T N . A. N . A.  N . A. N . A.  N . A. 2,427+
- Others M T N . A. N . A.  N . A. N . A.  6,714+  3,423+

Notes:
	 @	 Licensed and installed capacities are as certified by Management and have not been verified 

by the auditors as this is a technical matter.
	 +	 Actual production includes quantities produced out of capacity taken on lease and third party 

operations.
	 *	 Includes captive consumption of Nil (Previous year - 1431 M T)

For the year ended  
31 March 2010

For the year ended  
31 March 2009

b) Particulars in respect of sales / stocks :
Unit Quantity  Value Quantity  Value 

1.	 Sales
	 Refined edible oils M T  78,523  5,544.55  82,959  6,612.35 
	 Edible oils M T  30  2.35  1,549  93.83 
	 Others  948.81  1,029.92 

 6,495.71  7,736.10 

2.	 Purchase of goods
	 Refined edible oils M T  39,902  1,994.50  41,071  2,422.31 
	 Edible oils M T  14  0.86  1,031  61.10 
	 Others  266.14  557.10 

 2,261.50  3,040.51 

3.	 Stock in trade
	 Opening 
	 Refined edible oils M T  3,236  141.65  5,309  365.79 
	 Edible oils M T  22  1.59  85  5.83 
	 Others  53.21  24.72 

 196.45  396.34 

	 Closing*
	 Refined edible oils M T  3,316  180.58  3,236  141.65 
	 Edible oils M T  —  —  22  1.59 
	 Others  48.81  53.21 

 229.39  196.45 

*	 Closing stock quantities are after adjustment of samples, transit claims/loss and also quantities use 
for other products. 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

	 xv) CIF value of imports:
For the year ended  

31 March 2010
For the year ended  

31 March 2009
Raw materials  297.50  233.80 
Finished goods  42.45  28.98 
Capital goods  7.28  1.39 

 347.23  264.17 

	 xvi) Earnings in foreign exchange :

For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

For the year ended  
31 March 2009

Export of goods on FOB basis  2.22  0.09 
Others  12.83  15.93 

 15.05  16.02 
 

16. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

For the year ended 
 31 March 2010

For the year ended  
31 March 2009

Quantity  Value Quantity  Value 

c) Raw materials consumed:  
Seeds M T —-  — 4,798  137.04 
Edible oils M T  45,323  1,743.41 49,858  2,237.48 
Others  288.58  177.65 

 2,031.99  2,552.17 

d) Packing materials consumed 335.90 320.74

e) Consumption of raw materials, stores and spare parts :

For the year ended  
31 March 2010

For the year ended 
 31 March 2009

 Value  % Value  % 
 Raw materials:
 - Indigenous  1,777.49  87.48  2,433.35  95.99 
 - Imported  254.50  12.52  118.83  4.01 

 2,031.99  100.00  2,552.17  100.00 
 Stores and spare parts:
 - Indigenous  1.50  100.00  0.51  100.00 

 1.50  100.00  0.51  100.00 
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16.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

	 xvii)	Expenditure in foreign currency (cash basis):

For the year ended  
31 March 2010

For the year ended  
31 March 2009

Foreign travel  1.97  3.66 
Finance charges  0.16  1.80 
Professional charges  26.99  5.82 
Royalty  7.61  5.15 
Software expenses  1.00  0.41 
Import purchases  —  23.76 
Others  0.29  0.15 

 38.02  40.75 

	 xviii)	Segment information
	 In accordance with AS-17 “Segment Reporting”, segment information has been given in the consolidated 

financial statements of the Company and therefore no separate disclosure on segment information is given in 
these financial statements. 

	 xix)	 Amounts payable to micro, small and medium enterprises
	 There are no Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises, to whom the Company owes dues, which are outstanding for 

more than 45days as at 31 March 2010. This information as required to be disclosed under the Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 has been determined to the extent such parties have been identified 
on the basis of information available with Company.

	 xx)	 Disclosure regarding Derivative instruments
	 The Company uses forward exchange contracts to hedge against its foreign currency exposures relating to the 

underlying transactions and firm commitments. The use of this foreign exchange forward contracts reduces the 
risk or cost to the Company and the Company does not use the foreign exchange forward contracts for trading 
or speculation purposes.

	 The information on such Derivative instruments is as follows:
	 a) Forward exchange contracts outstanding as at the year end:

(In Millions)

Currency Pair Currency
As at 31 March 2010 As at 31 March 2009

Buy  Sell Buy  Sell 
USD / INR USD  0.19  —  0.14  — 

	 b) Foreign exchange currency exposure recognised by the Company that have not been hedged by a derivative 
instrument or otherwise as at the year end:

(In Millions)

Currency Pair Currency
As at 31 March 2010 As at 31 March 2009

Buy  Sell Buy  Sell 
USD / INR USD  0.17  0.05  0.12  0.02 

	 xxi)	Previous year figures 
	 Previous year figures have been regrouped/reclassified wherever necessary, to conform to current year 

classification.
		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	  
	 President	 Director	 Director

Place	:	Gurgaon	 Phani K Mangipudi 
Date	 :	19 May 2010	 Company Secretary

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2010 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2010 

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2009 

A. Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
Net profit before tax and after exceptional items  331.12  276.35 
Adjustments :
Depreciation and amortisation  30.40  24.42 
(Profit)/Loss on fixed assets discarded/sold (net)  (8.91)  4.18 
Interest (net)  (63.67)  (43.40)
Advances/deposits written off  —  5.48 
Provision for doubtful debts/advances (net)  4.12  5.68 
Sundry claims/excess provisions/unclaimed credits (net)  (0.22)  (45.62)
Exceptional items (net)  —  (40.17)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes and 
exceptional item  292.84  186.92 

Adjustments for :
Decrease/(Increase) in sundry debtors, loans and advances and 
other current assets  (36.99)  155.74 

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories  (138.33)  298.98 
Increase in trade payables  111.42  133.38 

Increase in amount recoverable from employee stock option trust  (19.04)  (30.28)

Cash generated from operations before exceptional item  209.90  744.74 

Income taxes paid (net)  (70.29)  77.82 
Net cash provided by operating activities before  
exceptional item  139.61  822.56 

Exceptional item - Deferred payment liability —  (5.48)
Exceptional item - Interest on Mantralayam tax refund  —  40.17 

Net cash provided by operating activities  139.61  857.25 

B. Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets  (172.88)  (70.95)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  27.80  6.53 
Interest received  47.94  38.98 
Net cash used in investing activities  (97.14)  (25.44)
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For the year ended 
 31 March 2010 

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2009 

C. Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Proceeds from short term loans  228.50  160.00 
Repayment of short term loans  (228.50)  (160.00)
Proceeds/(Repayment) from borrowings  —  (112.74)
Interest paid (net)  (0.76)  (7.13)
Dividend paid (Including dividend distribution tax)  (28.16)  — 

Net cash used in financing activities  (28.92)  (119.87)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  13.55  711.94 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   
(Refer Schedule 7) 876.76 164.82

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 890.31 876.76 
(Refer Schedule 7)

Note :
	 a)	 The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set out in the Accounting 

Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements, notified under the Companies (Accounting Standard) Rules, 2006.

As per out report attached	
for B S R and Associates		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited
Chartered Accountants	

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	 	
	 President	 Director	 Director

Zubin Shekary 
Partner				    Phani K Mangipudi 
Membership No: 48814			   Company Secretary

Place	 :	 Gurgaon			   Place	 :	 Gurgaon	
Date	 :	 19 May 2010			   Date	 :	 19 May 2010
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	 V.	 Generic Names of Principal Products/Services of Company (Not Applicable) 

		  Product Description

	 Item Code No. (ITC CODE)

	 Product Description

	 Item Code No. (ITC Code)

	 Product Description

	 Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile
	 I.	 Registration Details

	 Registration No.	 State Code    			     

	 Balance Sheet Date

		  Date	 Month	 Year

	 3	 1 	 0	 3 	 1	 0

	 II.	 Capital raised during the Year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)
		  Public Issue	 Rights Issue	

		  Bonus Issue	 Private Placement/Preferential Offer

	

				    N	 I	 L 				    N	 I	 L

	 0	 1	 –	 0	 6	 9	 5	 7 	 0	 1

				    N	 I	 L 				    N	 I	 L

			   1	 5	 0	 6	 6	 3	 1

				    N	 I	 L			 

Information pursuant to Schedule VI – Part IV:

	 III.	 Position of Mobilisation and Deployment of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

	 Total Liabilities	 Total Assets

	 	 Sources of Funds
		  Paid-Up Capital	 Reserves & Surplus	

		  Secured Loans	 Unsecured Loans

	 	 Application of Funds
		  Net Fixed Assets	 Investments	

		  Net Current Assets	 Miscellaneous Expenditure

		

		  Accumulated Losses	 Deferred Tax Asset 

		
		  Deferred Payment Liability

				    5	 3	 4	 0	 7	 2

		 Sunflower Seed Oil

	 RBD Palm Oil

				    1	 5	 1	 1	 9	 0

Oil Cake and Oil Cake meal of Sunflower 
Seed solvent extracted

				    2	 3	 0	 6	 3	 0

		   for Agro Tech Foods Limited

Place	:	 Gurgaon	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh 	 Phani K Mangipudi 
Date	 :	 19 May 2010	 President	 Director	 Director	 Company Secretary

				    2	 4	 3	 6	 9	 3

	 IV.	 Performance of Company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)
			   Turnover	 Total Expenditure	

			      Profit/Loss Before Tax	 Profit/Loss After Tax

		   
		   (Tick appropriate box + for Profit, – for Loss)

			   Earnings per share in Rs.      	       Dividend Rate %        

      

	 		  1	 5	 0	 6	 6	 3	 1

			   1	 2	 6	 2	 9	 3	 8

				    N	 I	 L			 

					     1	 4	 0	 0	 0

				    N	 I	 L			 

				    1	 5	 1	 2	 1	 1

			   	 	 1	 3	 9	 4	 4

				    9	 4	 4	 6	 1	 5

	 +	
	 +	 –	

	 +		
	 +	 –	

			   6	 4	 9	 5	 7	 1	 3

		  3	 3	 1	 1	 2	 0

			   6	 1	 6	 4	 5	 9	 3

		  2	 5	 1	 3	 9	 5

				    N	 I	 L			 

		  		  N	 I	 L	

						      1	 5			   1	 0	 .	 3	 2
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	 For B S R and Associates
	 Chartered Accountants 

Firm Registration Number: 128901W

	 Zubin Shekary
Place	:	Gurgaon	 Partner
Date	 :	19 May 2010	 Membership No: 48814

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AGRO TECH FOODS LIMITED
1.	 We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of 

Agro Tech Foods Limited (“the Company”) as at 
31 March 2010, the Profit and Loss Account and 
the Cash Flow Statement of the Company for the 
year ended on that date, annexed thereto. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit.

2.	 We conducted our audit in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatements. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3.	 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
Order, 2003 (‘the Order’), as amended, issued by 
the Central Government of India in terms of sub-
section (4A) of section 227 of the Companies Act, 
1956, we enclose in the Annexure, a statement 
on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 
of the said Order.

4.	 Further to our comments in the Annexure referred 
to in paragraph 3 above, we report that: 

	 i)	 we have obtained all the information and 
explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for 
the purposes of our audit;

	 ii)	 in our opinion, proper books of account 
as required by law have been kept by 

the Company so far as appears from our 
examination of those books; 

	 iii)	 the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account 
and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this 
report are in agreement with the books of 
account;

	 iv)	 in our opinion, the Balance Sheet, 
Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow 
Statement dealt with by this report comply 
with the accounting standards referred 
to in sub-section (3C) of section 211 of 
the Companies Act, 1956, to the extent 
applicable;

	 v)	 on the basis of written representations 
received from the Directors, as on 31 March 
2010, and taken on record by the Board 
of Directors, we report that none of the 
Directors is disqualified as on 31 March 
2010 from being appointed as a Director 
in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of 
section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956; 
and

	 vi)	 in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the 
explanations given to us, the said accounts 
give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 1956, in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India: 

	 a)	 in the case of the Balance Sheet, of 
the state of affairs of the Company as 
at 31 March 2010; and

	 b)	 in the case of the Profit and Loss 
Account, of the profit for the year 
ended on that date.

	 c)	 in the case of Cash Flow Statement, 
of the Cash Flows of the Company for 
the year ended on that date.
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ANNEXURE TO THE AUDITORS’ REPORT
The Annexure referred to in the auditors’ report 
to the members of Agro Tech Foods Limited (“the 
Company”) for the year ended 31 March 2010. We 
report that:
1.	 The Company has maintained proper records 

showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of fixed assets.

2.	 The Company has a regular program of 
physical verification of its fixed assets by which 
all fixed assets are verified every year. In our 
opinion, the periodicity of physical verification 
is reasonable having regard to the size of the 
Company and the nature of its assets. No 
material discrepancies were noted on such 
verification.

3.	 Fixed assets disposed off during the year were 
not substantial, and therefore, do not affect 
the going concern assumption. 

 4.	 The inventory, except goods-in-transit and 
stocks lying with third parties, have been 
physically verified by the management during 
the year. In our opinion, the frequency of 
such verification is reasonable. For stocks 
lying with third parties at the year-end, written 
confirmations have been obtained.

5.	 In our opinion, the procedures for the physical 
verification of inventories followed by the 
management are reasonable and adequate 
in relation to the size of the Company and the 
nature of its business.

6.	 The Company is maintaining proper records 
of inventory. The discrepancies noticed on 
verification between the physical stocks and 
the book records were not material.

7.	 The Company has neither granted nor taken 
any loans, secured or unsecured, to or from 
companies, firms or other parties covered in 
the register maintained under section 301 of 
the Companies Act, 1956.

8.	 In our opinion and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, 
and having regard to the explanation that 
purchases of certain items of inventories are 
for the Company’s specialised requirements 
and suitable alternative sources are not 
available to obtain comparable quotations, 
there is an adequate internal control system 
commensurate with the size of the Company 

and the nature of its business with regard 
to purchase of inventories and fixed assets 
and with regard to the sale of goods and 
services. In our opinion and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, 
there is no continuing failure to correct major 
weaknesses in internal control system. We 
have not observed any major weakness in the 
internal control system during the course of 
the audit.

9.	 In our opinion, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, 
there are no contracts and arrangements the 
particulars of which need to be entered into 
the register maintained under section 301 of 
the Companies Act, 1956.

10.	 The Company has not accepted any deposits 
from the public.

11.	 In our opinion, the Company has an internal 
audit system commensurate with the size and 
nature of its business. 

12.	 We have broadly reviewed the books of 
account maintained by the Company 
pursuant to the rules prescribed by the Central 
Government for maintenance of cost records 
under section 209(1)(d) of the Companies 
Act, 1956 and are of the opinion that prima 
facie, the prescribed accounts and records 
have been made and maintained. However, 
we have not made a detailed examination of 
the records.

13.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and on the basis of our examination 
of the records of the Company, amounts 
deducted/accrued in the books of account in 
respect of undisputed statutory dues including 
provident fund, employees’ state insurance, 
income-tax, sales-tax, wealth tax, service tax, 
customs duty, excise duty and other material 
statutory dues have been regularly deposited 
during the year by the Company with the 
appropriate authorities. As explained to us, the 
Company did not have any dues on account 
of investor education and protection fund.

	 Further, there were no dues on account of 
Cess under Section 441A of the Act, since the 
date from which the aforesaid section comes 
into force has not yet been notified by the 
Central Government.
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ANNEXURE TO Auditors’ Report (continued)
	 According to the information and explanations 

given to us, no undisputed amounts payable 
in respect of Provident fund, Employees’ State 
Insurance, Income tax, Sales tax, Wealth tax, 
Service tax, Customs duty, Excise duty and 
other material statutory dues were in arrears as 
at 31 March 2010 for a period of more than six 
months from the date they became payable.

14.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us, there are no dues of income tax, 
wealth tax, service tax and customs duty 
which have not been deposited with the 
appropriate authorities on account of any 
dispute. According to the information and 
explanations given to us, the following dues of 
sales tax, excise duty and entry tax have not 
been deposited by the Company on account 
of disputes:

Name of the Statute Nature of Dues Amount
(Rs. Million) 

Period to which the 
amount relates Forum Where the dispute is pending

Central Excise Act, 1944 Excise Duty – 
CENVAT credit  0.78 2004 – 2005 Central Excise and Service Tax Appellate Tribunal

Andhra Pradesh General Sales Tax 
Act, 1956 Sales Tax 

 0.10 1997 – 1998 Sales Tax Appellate Tribunal
 3.90 2001 – 2002 Sales Tax Appellate Tribunal
 2.68 2002 – 2003 Appellate Deputy Commissioner, Commercial Taxes

Bombay Sales Tax Act, 1958 Sales Tax 
 0.19 1997 – 1998 Sales Tax Appellate Tribunal
 0.63 2002 – 2003 Joint Commissioner of Sales Tax (Appeals)

Gujarat Sales Tax Act, 1970 Sales Tax 
 0.40 1998 – 1999 Sales Tax Appellate Tribunal
 0.12 1999 – 2000 Sales Tax Appellate Tribunal

West Bengal Sales Tax Act, 1994 Sales Tax  0.72 2001 – 2002 Sales Tax Appellate Tribunal

Bihar Sales Tax Act, 1981 Sales Tax 
 0.62 2001 – 2002 Sales Tax Appellate Tribunal
 2.26 2002 – 2003 Joint Commissioner, Commercial Taxes

Delhi Sales Tax Act, 1975 Sales Tax  0.91 2003 – 2004 Additional Commissioner, Commercial Taxes

Uttar Pradesh Sales Tax Act, 1948
Central Sales Tax Act, 1956
 

Sales Tax and CST
 

 0.78 2003 – 2004 Deputy Commissioner (Appeals), Commercial Taxes
359.55 2005 – 2006 Deputy Commissioner, Commercial Taxes
251.45 2006 – 2007 Deputy Commissioner, Commercial Taxes

Rajasthan Sales Tax Act, 1954 Sales Tax  0.30 2001 – 2002 High Court, Jodhpur

Tamilnadu Sales Tax Act, 1959 Sales Tax 
 0.26 2002 – 2003 Assistant Commissioner, Commercial Taxes
 2.23 2003 – 2004 Assistant Commissioner (CT), Koyambedu, Chennai

Andhra Pradesh Entry Tax Act, 2001 Entry Tax  2.71 2005 – 2006 Deputy Commissioner (Appeals), Commercial Taxes

15.	 The Company does not have any accumulated 
losses at the end of the financial year and has 
not incurred cash losses in the financial year 
and in the immediately preceding financial 
year.

16.	 In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us, the Company 
has not defaulted in repayment of dues to 
its bankers. The Company did not have any 
outstanding dues to any financial institution 
or debenture holders during the year.

17.	 The Company has not granted any loans 
and advances on the basis of security by way 
of pledge of shares, debentures and other 
securities. 

18.	 In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us, the Company is 
not a chit fund or a nidhi/mutual benefit fund/ 
society.

19.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us, the Company is not dealing or 
trading in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

20.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us, the Company has not given any 
guarantee for loans taken by others from 
banks or financial institutions. 

21.	 The Company did not have any term loans 
outstanding during the year.
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	 For B S R and Associates
	 Chartered Accountants 

Firm Registration Number: 128901W

	 Zubin Shekary
Place	:	Gurgaon	 Partner
Date	 :	19 May 2010	 Membership No: 48814

ANNEXURE TO Auditors’ Report (continued)

22.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and on an overall examination of 
the Balance Sheet of the Company, we are 
of the opinion that the funds raised on short-
term basis have not been used for long-term 
investment.

23.	 The Company has not made any preferential 
allotment of shares to companies/firms/
parties covered in the register maintained 
under Section 301 of the Companies Act, 
1956.

24.	 The Company did not have any outstanding 
debentures during the year. 

25.	 The Company has not raised any money by 
public issues.

26.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us, no fraud on or by the Company 
has been noticed or reported during the 
course of our audit.
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		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri 	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	  
	 President	 Director	 Director

	 Phani K Mangipudi 
	 Company Secretary

Place	: Gurgaon
Date	 : 19 May 2010

Rs. Millions

1.	 heera seeds trading and warehousing limited	

	 a)	 Holding Company’s interest:	  
		  2,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid	

	 b)	 Net aggregate amount of Subsidiary’s Profits/(Losses)  
		  not dealt with in the Holding Company’s accounts:	

		  i)	 for the Subsidiary’s financial year ended 31 March 2010	 —

		  ii)	 for the previous financial years	 —

	 c)	 Net aggregate amount of Subsidiary’s Profits/(Losses) 	  
		  dealt with in the Holding Company’s accounts:	

		  i)	 for the Subsidiary’s financial year ended 31 March 2010	  — 

		  ii)	 for the previous financial years	  (6.00)	

Statement regarding Subsidiary Company
Pursuant to Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956
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Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2010 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

Schedule  As at  
31 March 2010 

 As at  
31 March 2009 

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Shareholders’ funds
Share capital 1  243.69  243.69 
Reserves and surplus 2  1,263.69  1,055.06 

 1,507.38  1,298.75 

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Fixed assets 3
Gross block  601.63  589.12 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortisation  (185.36)  (201.04)

 416.27  388.08 
Less: Provision for impairment  (6.17)  (19.89)
Net block  410.10  368.19 
Capital work-in-progress (including capital advances)  124.00  7.06 

 534.10  375.25 

Amount recoverable from employee stock option trust 15(xiii)  81.45  62.41 

Deferred tax asset, net 15(vii)  13.94  16.88 

Current assets, loans and advances
Inventories 4  574.07  435.74 
Sundry debtors 5  178.17  159.36 
Cash and bank balances 6  890.37  876.82 
Other current assets 7  32.63  16.14 
Loans and advances 8  164.35  156.79 

 1,839.59  1,644.85 
Less:
Current liabilities and provisions
Current liabilities 9  896.01  744.45 
Provisions 10  65.69  56.19 

 961.70  800.64 

Net current assets  877.89  844.21 

 1,507.38  1,298.75 

Significant accounting policies 15(i)
Notes to accounts 15

The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

As per out report attached	
for B S R and Associates		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited
Chartered Accountants	

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	 	
	 President	 Director	 Director

Zubin Shekary 
Partner				    Phani K Mangipudi 
Membership No: 48814			   Company Secretary

Place	 :	 Gurgaon			   Place	 :	 Gurgaon	
Date	 :	 19 May 2010			   Date	 :	 19 May 2010
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

Schedule For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009 

INCOME

Sales (net)  6,495.71  7,736.10 
Other income 11  105.36  111.05 

 6,601.07  7,847.15 

EXPENDITURE
Material costs 12  4,596.45  6,052.22 
Manufacturing, administration and selling expenses 13  1,642.35  1,528.98 
Finance charges 14  0.76  5.36 
Depreciation and amortisation 3  30.40  24.42 

 6,269.96  7,610.98 

Profit before exceptional items and taxation  331.11  236.17 
Exceptional item —  40.17 
Profit before taxation  331.11  276.34 
Provision for taxation
 - Current tax  108.56  43.90 
 - Fringe benefit tax  —  12.96 
 - Deferred tax  2.94  25.00 
 - MAT credit entitlement  (31.78)  (14.00)
Profit after taxation  251.39  208.48 

Balance in Profit and Loss Account brought forward  333.77  153.80 
Amount available for appropriation  585.16  362.28 
Appropriations:
 - Proposed dividend  36.55  24.37 
 - Dividend distribution tax  6.21  4.14 
 - Transferred to general reserve  12.57 — 
Balance in Profit and Loss Account brought forward  529.83  333.77 

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted - Par value Rs. 10 per share 15(viii) 10.32 8.56 

Significant accounting policies 15(i)
Notes to accounts 15

The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Profit and Loss Account

As per out report attached	
for B S R and Associates		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited
Chartered Accountants	

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	
	 President	 Director	 Director
Zubin Shekary 
Partner				    Phani K Mangipudi 
Membership No: 48814			   Company Secretary

Place	 :	 Gurgaon			   Place	 :	 Gurgaon	
Date	 :	 19 May 2010			   Date	 :	 19 May 2010
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 As at  
31 March 2010 

 As at  
31 March 2009 

Schedule 1: Share capital

Authorised :
25,000,000 (previous year : 25,000,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each  250.00  250.00 

1,000,000 (previous year : 1,000,000) Cumulative, Redeemable  
preference shares of Rs. 100 each  100.00  100.00 

 350.00  350.00 

Issued :
24,372,139 (previous year : 24,372,139) equity shares of Rs.10 each  243.72  243.72 

Subscribed and paid-up :
24,369,264 (previous year : 24,369,264) equity shares of Rs.10 each  
fully paid up  243.69  243.69 

 243.69  243.69 

Schedule 2: Reserves and surplus

Securities premium account  721.29  721.29 

General reserve;
Balance at the beginning of the year — —
Add: Transferred from Profit and Loss Account  12.57 —

 12.57 —

Profit and Loss Account  529.83  333.77 
 1,263.69  1,055.06 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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 As at  
31 March 2010 

 As at  
31 March 2009 

Schedule 4: Inventories

Raw materials  303.28  190.37 
Packing materials  41.40  48.92 
Finished goods  229.39  196.45 

 574.07  435.74 

Schedule 5: Sundry debtors
(Unsecured)

Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months
 	 - Considered good  13.64  16.54 
 	 - Considered doubtful  101.37  94.42 

Other debts 
 	 - Considered good  164.52  142.82 
 	 - Considered doubtful  0.04  2.86 

 279.57  256.64 
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts  101.40  97.28 

 178.17  159.36 

Schedule 6: Cash and bank balances

Cash on hand  —  — 
Balances with scheduled banks
 	 - in current accounts  78.47  141.61 
 	 - in fixed deposit account*  811.90  735.21 

 890.37  876.82 
*Lodged as security deposit Rs. 1.94 (previous year : 0.05)

Schedule 7: Other current assets

Interest accrued on bank deposits  32.63  16.14 
 32.63  16.14 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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 As at  
31 March 2010 

 As at  
31 March 2009 

Schedule 8: Loans and advances
(Unsecured)

Considered good
Loans to employees  6.56  2.62 
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received  77.48  51.07 
Advances with Government and public bodies  54.37  76.50 
Deposits with Government, public bodies and others  17.47  11.64 
Advance Income tax (Including MAT credit)  3.69  10.33 
[Net of provision for tax Rs. 199.68 (Previous year: Rs. 91.12)]
Advance fringe benefit tax  4.78  4.63 
[Net of provision for tax Rs. 44.21(Previous year: Rs. 44.36)]

Considered doubtful
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received/
advances and deposits with Government and public bodies  45.32  45.32 

 209.67  202.11 
Less: Provision for doubtful advances  45.32  45.32 

 164.35  156.79 

Schedule 9: Current liabilities

Sundry creditors
 - dues to micro and small enterprises — —
 - others  798.82  646.49 
Advance from customers  23.46  31.00 
Unclaimed dividend  0.35 — 
Other liabilities  73.38  66.96 

 896.01  744.45 

Schedule 10: Provisions

Proposed dividend  36.55  24.37 
Tax on proposed dividend  6.21  4.14 
Provision for employee benefits  22.93  27.68 
(Refer Note ix of Schedule 15)  65.69  56.19 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009 

Schedule 11: Other income
Interest received on loans, deposits, advances (Gross) [Tax deduct-
ed at source Rs. 7.41 (Previous year: Rs. 11.20)]  64.43  48.76 

Sundry claims/excess provisions/unclaimed credits (net)  3.34  47.18 
Profit on fixed assets discarded/sold (net)  8.91 —- 
Miscellaneous income  28.68  15.11 

 105.36  111.05 

Schedule 12: Material costs

Opening stock
	 Raw materials  190.37  300.65 
	 Packing materials  48.92  37.74 
	 Finished goods  196.45  396.34 

 435.74  734.73 
Add: Purchases 
	 Raw materials  2,144.90  2,441.90 
	 Packing materials  328.38  331.92 
	 Finished goods  2,261.50  2,979.41 

 4,734.78  5,753.23 
Less: Closing stock
	 Raw materials  303.28  190.37 
	 Packing materials  41.40  48.92 
	 Finished goods  229.39  196.45 

 574.07  435.74 

 4,596.45  6,052.22 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009 

Schedule 13: Manufacturing, administration and selling expenses
Salaries, wages and bonus (net)  220.09  224.28 
Contribution to provident and other funds (net)  19.55  36.20 
Workmen and staff welfare expenses  23.09  21.96 
Consumption of stores and spare parts  1.50  0.51 
Processing charges  93.37  92.42 
Power and fuel  16.69  9.32 
Rent  52.12  41.88 
Rates and taxes  31.56  28.68 
Insurance  6.10  5.85 
Repairs and maintenance
      - Buildings  0.29  0.25 
      - Machinery  4.64  4.40 
      - Others  9.49  5.29 
Printing and stationery  4.09  4.42 
Software expenses  7.93  16.92 
Communication expenses  26.22  22.71 
Travelling  61.80  63.08 
Auditors’ remuneration  3.03  2.70 
Outward freight  195.90  192.40 
Brokerage/commission  18.31  21.15 
Distribution expenses  95.25  97.11 
Legal charges  6.51  0.81 
Professional charges  81.21  63.29 
Advertisement and sales promotion  614.06  514.75 
Loss on fixed assets discarded/sold (net)  —  4.18 
Royalty  9.54  7.52 
Exchange loss/(gain)  (1.27)  11.50 
Bank finance charges  2.72  3.63 
Advances/deposits written off  —  5.48 
Provision for doubtful debts/advances (net)  4.12  5.68 
Miscellaneous expenses  34.44  20.61 

 1,642.35  1,528.98 

Schedule 14: Finance charges

Interest - others  0.76  5.36 
 0.76  5.36 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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i) STATEMENT ON SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
SCHEDULE 15

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF ACCOUNTS
The financial statements of Agro Tech Foods Limited 
have been prepared and presented in accordance 
with Indian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) under the historical cost convention 
on the accrual basis. GAAP comprises accounting 
standards notified by the Central Government of 
India under Section 211 (3C) of the Companies Act, 
1956, other pronouncements of Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India, the provisions of Companies 
Act, 1956 and guidelines issued by Securities and 
Exchange Board of India. 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the 
financial statements of Agro Tech Foods Limited (“the 
Company”), the parent Company and its subsidiary 
(collectively referred to as “the Group”), in which 
the Company has more than one-half of the voting 
power of an enterprise.

Financial Statements of the subsidiary Company 
are consolidated on line-by-line basis by adding 
together like items of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Any significant inter group balances and 
transactions, and any unrealized gains from inter-
group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared 
by applying accounting policies, as followed by 
the Company and its subsidiary, to the extent it is 
practicable. Significant differences in the accounting 
policies, if any, are appropriately disclosed by way of 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from sale of goods is recognized when 
significant risks and rewards in respect of ownership 
of products are transferred to customers. Sales are 
recognized when goods are dispatched or as per 
the terms of contract. 

Income from interest on deposits, loans and 
interest bearing securities is recognized on the time 
proportionate method.

FIXED ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION
Fixed assets are accounted for at cost of acquisition 
or construction inclusive of inward freight, duties, 
taxes and directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to its working condition for its intended use. 

Advances paid towards the acquisition of fixed 
assets outstanding at each Balance Sheet date and 
assets under installation or under construction as at 
the Balance Sheet date are shown as Capital Work-
in-Progress.

Depreciation is provided on straight line method 
at rates based on the useful life of the fixed assets 
as estimated by the management as specified 
below, or the rates specified in accordance with the 
provisions of Schedule XIV to the Companies Act, 
1956, whichever are higher.
	 l 	 Office equipment, Computer and  

related hardware	 19% to 20%
		  (Included in Plant and Machinery)	  
	 l 	 Plant and Machinery	 6.33% to 9.5%
	 l 	 Furniture and Fixtures	 10%
	 l 	 Buildings
		  – Factory Premises	 3.34%
		  – Non Factory Premises	 1.63% to 16.67%
	 l	 Vehicles	 19%
In respect of assets given to the employees under a 
scheme, depreciation is provided at rates determined 
on the basis of the useful economic life of these 
assets (5 years), and these rates are higher than 
those specified in Schedule XIV to the Companies 
Act, 1956.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND AMORTIZATION
Brands acquired by the Company, the value of which 
is not expected to diminish in the foreseeable future, 
are capitalized and recorded in the Balance Sheet as 
Trade Marks at cost of acquisition less accumulated 
amortisation. These are being amortized on straight-
line method over the estimated useful life of forty years 
determined by persuasive evidences of expected 
usage contributing towards the performance and 
significant expenditure incurred to sustain the useful 
life of brands. Recoverable value of such brands is 
assessed in each financial year.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
The Company assesses at each Balance Sheet 
date whether there is any indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
Company estimates the recoverable amount of the 
asset. If such recoverable amount of the asset or the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit 
to which the asset belongs is less than its carrying 
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amount, impairment provision is created to bring 
down the carrying value to its recoverable amount. 
The reduction is treated as an impairment loss 
and is recognized in the Profit and Loss Account.  
If at the Balance Sheet date there is an indication that 
if a previously assessed impairment loss no longer 
exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and 
the impairment provision created earlier is reversed 
to bring it at the recoverable amount subject to a 
maximum of depreciated historical cost.

INVESTMENTS
Investments are classified into current and long-term 
investments. Current investments are stated at the 
lower of cost and fair value. Long-term investments 
are stated at cost. A provision for diminution is made 
to recognise a decline, other than temporary, in the 
value of long-term investments.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are valued at lower of weighted average 
cost and estimated net realizable value after 
providing for cost of obsolescence, where necessary. 
In the case of finished goods, cost comprises material, 
labour and applicable overhead expenses and 
duties including excise duty paid/payable thereon.

Goods in transit/with third parties and at godowns 
are valued at cost which represents the costs 
incurred upto the stage at which the goods are in 
transit with third parties and at godowns.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONVERSION 
The transactions in foreign currency are accounted 
for at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of 
the transactions. Exchange differences arising on 
foreign currency transactions settled during the year 
are recognized in the Profit and Loss Account.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies as at the Balance Sheet date, 
not covered by forward exchange contracts, are 
translated at year end rates. The resultant exchange 
differences are recognized in the Profit and Loss 
Account. Non-monetary assets are recorded at the 
rates prevailing on the date of the transaction.

In respect of forward contracts, the differences 
between forward exchange rates and the exchange 
rates at the date of transaction are recognised as 
income or expense over the life of the contracts.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Gratuity and long term compensated absences, 
which are defined benefit plans, are accrued based 
on an actuarial valuation at the Balance Sheet 
date.

Provident Fund, wherein Company provides the 
guarantee of a specified return on contribution 
are considered as defined benefit plans and are 
accrued based on an actuarial valuation at the 
Balance Sheet date.

All actuarial gains and losses arising during the year 
are recognized in the Profit and Loss Account of the 
year.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION SCHEME
Stock options granted to the employees under 
the stock option scheme are evaluated as per  
the accounting treatment prescribed by Employee 
Stock Option Scheme (ESOP) and Employee Stock 
Purchase Scheme Guidelines, 1999 issued by the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India. Accordingly, 
the excess of market price of the shares as on the  
date of grant over the exercise price of the options  
and the excess of purchase price of the shares 
purchased by the ESOP Trust of the Company over 
the exercise price of the options is recognized as 
employee compensation in the Profit and Loss Account  
and in the case where exercise price is higher 
than the purchase price, the gain is accounted 
in the period, when the options are allotted to the 
employees.

LEASES
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 
leases and recorded as expense in Profit and Loss 
Account.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed 
by dividing the net profit after tax for the year by 
the weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the year. 

INCOME-TAX EXPENSE
Income tax expense comprises current tax and 
deferred tax charge or credit.

Current tax
The current charge for income taxes is calculated 
in accordance with the relevant tax regulations 
applicable to the Company.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax charge or credit reflects the tax effects 
of timing differences between accounting income 
and taxable income for the period. The deferred  
tax charge or credit and the corresponding 
deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognized  
using the tax rates that have been enacted  
or substantially enacted by the Balance Sheet date. 
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		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri 	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	 	
	 President	 Director	 Director

	 Phani K Mangipudi 
	 Company Secretary

Place	: Gurgaon
Date	 : 19 May 2010

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the 
extent there is reasonable certainty that the 
assets can be realized in future. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date 
and is written-down or written-up to reflect the 
amount that is reasonably certain to be realized.  
The break-up of the major components of  
the deferred tax assets and liabilities as at  
Balance Sheet date has been arrived at after 
setting off deferred tax assets and liabilities where 
the Company has a legally enforceable right to set-
off assets against liabilities and where such assets 
and liabilities relate to taxes on income levied by the 
same governing taxation laws.

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Company creates a provision when there is a 
present obligation as a result of a past event that 
probably requires an outflow of resources and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. A disclosure for a contingent liability 
is made when there is a possible obligation or 
a present obligation that may, but probably will 
not, require an outflow of resources. Where there is 
possible obligation or a present obligation in respect 
of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is 
remote, no provision or disclosure is made.
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

15.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

	 ii)	 The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 comprise the  
Company (Agro Tech Foods Limited) and its wholly owned subsidiary Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing 
Limited (incorporated in India). These entities have together been referred to as the ‘Group’.

		  The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard  
(“AS”) 21, “Consolidated Financial Statements”.

	 iii)	 Commitments and contingent liabilities

 As at  
31 March 2010 

 As at  
31 March 2009 

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on 
capital account and not provided for (net of advances)  110.48  14.14 

Contingent liabilities:
Guarantees given by bank *  6.95  2.79 

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts in  
respect of :
Sales tax matters, under dispute **  615.21  4.71 
Other matters, under dispute  44.41  49.71 

	 The amounts included above, represent the best possible estimates arrived on the basis of available 
information. The uncertainties and possible reimbursements are dependent on the outcome of the different 
legal processes which have been invoked by the Company or the claimants as the case may be and 
therefore cannot be predicted accurately. The Company engages reputed professional advisors to protect 
its interests and has been advised that it has strong legal positions against such disputes.

	 *	 Represent guarantees given in the normal course of the Company’s operations and are not expected 
to result in any loss to the Company on the basis of the beneficiaries fulfilling their ordinary commercial 
obligations.

	 **	No provision has been made in the books as in the opinion of the management the outflow of resources 
required to settle the obligation is not probable given the merits of the case.

	 iv)	 Exceptional item represents interest on refund of income tax Rs. Nil (Previous year: Rs. 40.17) received 
relating to the demand of Rs. 128.70 raised on the sale of Mantralayam undertaking for the Assessment 
Year 1997-98. The Company had received the refund order along with the interest of Rs. 40.17 
against the advance tax paid in earlier years and had accordingly accounted it in the year ended  
31 March 2009.

	 v)	 Operating lease
	 The Company leases office facilities under cancellable and non-cancellable operating lease agreements. 

Total rental expense under cancellable operating leases was Rs. 48.30 (Previous year: Rs. 41.88) and under 
non-cancellable portion was Rs. 3.82 (Previous year: Rs. Nil), which has been disclosed as rent.

	 The total of future minimum lease payments (MLP) under non-cancellable operating lease is as follows:

	

As at 
31 March 2010

As at 
31 March 2009

Due within one year  9.81  — 
Due later than one year and not later than five years  16.17  — 

 25.98  — 
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15.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

	 vi)	 Intangible assets

		  Brands purchased by the Company are being amortised on straight line method based on their estimated useful 
lives. Consequently, amortisation cost for the year includes a sum of Rs. 9.28 (Previous year: Rs. 9.28) being the 
amortisation relating to these brands. On the Balance Sheet date, the management has reassessed the value 
of these brands through an independent valuer to ensure that the recoverable amounts of these assets are not 
lower than their carrying amounts.

	 vii) Deferred taxation

Deferred tax asset, net included in the Balance Sheet comprises the following :

Particulars As at 
31 March 2010

As at 
31 March 2009

Deferred tax asset
On provision for doubtful advances and other asset, on expenditure 
allowed on payment basis and on voluntary retirement scheme  49.83  46.62 

Deferred tax liability
On depreciation  (35.89)  (29.74)

Deferred tax asset, net  13.94  16.88 

	 viii) Earnings per share

Computation of earnings per share (EPS):

Particulars For the year ended 
31 March 2010

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

Profit after tax  251.39  208.48 
Weighted average number of equity shares of Rs.10 each 
outstanding during the year  24,369,264  24,369,264

Earnings per share of par value Rs. 10 (Basic and Diluted)  10.32  8.56 

Since, the Company does not have any potential equity shares hence, the basic and diluted earnings per share 
are the same.

	 ix) Particulars of managerial remuneration

Managerial remuneration included under various heads of accounts are :

Particulars For the year ended 
31 March 2010 

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

Salary  1.50  1.17 
Retirement benefits *  0.17  0.13 
Other benefits  1.05  1.39 

 2.72  2.69 

Sitting fee to Directors  1.48  0.90 
Commission to Non-executive Directors  1.00  — 

*	 Remuneration as given above does not include compensated absences, provident fund and gratuity 
benefit accrued since the same are computed actuarially for all the employees and the amounts attributable 
to the Directors cannot be ascertained separately.

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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	 xi)	 Employee benefits

	 a)	 The employee benefit schemes are as under:

		  i. Provident fund :

		  All employees of the Company receive benefits under the provident fund which is a defined benefit plan 
wherein the Company provides the guarantee of a specified return on contribution. The contribution is 
made both by the employee and the Company equal to 12% of the employees’ salary. These contributions 
are made to the fund administered and managed by the Company’s own Trust. 

		  ii. Superannuation fund:

		  The Company has a defined contribution scheme to provide pension to the eligible employees. The Company 
makes monthly contributions equal to a specified percentage of the covered employees’ salary. These 
contributions are administered by Company’s own Trust which has subscribed to “Group superannuation 
policy” of ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Company Limited. The Company’s monthly contributions are 
charged to the Profit and Loss Account. 

		  iii. Gratuity :

		  In accordance with the payment of ‘Gratuity Act, 1972’ of India, the Company provides for gratuity, a defined 
retirement benefit scheme (the Gratuity Plan), covering eligible employees. Liabilities with regard to such 
gratuity plan are determined by an actuarial valuation as at the end of the year and are charged to Profit 
and Loss Account. The gratuity plan is a funded plan administered by Company’s own Trust which has 
subscribed to “Group gratuity scheme” of ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Company Limited.

		  iv. Compensated absences :

		  The accrual for unutilised leave is determined for the entire available leave balance standing to the credit 
of the employees at the year end. The value of such leave balances that are eligible for carry forward, 
is determined by an actuarial valuation as at the end of the year and is charged to the Profit and Loss 
Account.

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

15. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

	 x) Auditor’s remuneration (including service tax) :

Particulars For the year ended 
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended 
31 March 2009 

Audit fees  1.89  1.66 
Other charges
 - Tax audit  0.17  0.32 
 - Other matters  0.71  0.69 
Reimbursement of expenses  0.26  0.03 

 3.03  2.70 
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

15. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
b)	 The following table sets out the particulars of the employee benefits as required under the Accounting 

Standard 15 (Revised) - “Employee benefits”

For the year ended 
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended 
31 March 2009 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the 
present value of the defined obligation : 
Opening defined benefit obligation  162.20  221.33 
Current service cost  14.92  13.31 
Interest cost  13.69  11.01 
Actuarial (gain)/loss  (1.24)  22.57 
Contribution by employee  14.09  13.37 
Benefits paid  (31.46)  (119.89)
Transfer in  3.54  0.50 
Closing defined benefit obligation  175.74  162.20 

Change in the fair value of plan assets

Opening fair value of plan assets  135.13  210.93 
Expected return on plan assets  12.39  6.88 
Contribution by employer  20.36  11.03 
Contribution by employee  14.09  13.37 
Benefits paid  (25.75)  (115.43)
Asset gain/(loss)  (1.41)  8.35 
Closing fair value of plan assets  154.81  135.13 

Expense recognized in statement of Profit and Loss Account

Current service cost  14.92  13.31 
Interest cost  13.69  11.01 
Expected return on plan assets  (12.39)  (6.88)
Net actuarial (gains)/losses recognized during the year  0.17  14.22 
Total *  16.39  31.66 

 Actual return on plan assets  10.99  15.24 

Amount recognized in the Balance Sheet as at  
31 March 2010

 Gratuity and  
provident fund  

(Funded) 

 Compensated  
absences  

(Unfunded) 
 Total 

Present value of obligation  155.37  20.37  175.74 
Less: Fair value of plan assets  (154.81) —  (154.81)
Net liability/(asset)**  0.56  20.37  20.93 

Amount recognized in the Balance Sheet as at  
31 March 2009

 Gratuity and  
provident fund 

(Funded) 

 Compensated  
absences  

(Unfunded) 
 Total 

Present value of obligation  143.16  19.04  162.20 
Less: Fair value of plan assets  (135.13)  —  (135.13)
Net liability/(asset) **  8.03  19.04  27.07 
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 As at 
31 March 2010

As at 
31 March 2009

Govt of India securities 13.00% 13.31%
PSU bonds 33.46% 35.41%
Special deposits 6.62% 7.30%
State govt. securities 34.65% 36.84%
Others 12.27% 7.14%

100.00% 100.00%

Discount rate 8.00% 7.61%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 7.61%

Salary escalation rate 7.00% 7.00%

	 Discount rate : The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian Government securities 
as at the Balance Sheet date for the estimated term of the obligations.

	 Expected rate of return on plan assets : This is based on the expectation of the average long term rate of 
return expected on investments of the fund during the estimated term of the obligations.

	 Salary escalation rate : The estimates of future salary increase considered in the actuarial valuation takes 
into account factors like inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors such as supply and de-
mand in the employment market. 

	 *It represents the employee benefit expense which has been included under salaries,wages and bonus in 
Schedule 13. 

	 ** The Company has not recognised an asset amounting to Rs. 2.01(previous year Rs. 0.61) as there are no 
future economic benefits available to the Company in the form of reduction in future contribution or a cash 
refund.

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

15.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
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15. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
	 xii) Related party transactions

A) Related parties

S.No. Name of the Company Relationship

1. CAG-Tech (Mauritius) Limited Entity which has significant influence over 
the Company

2. ConAgra Foods Inc Entity which has significant influence over 
the Company

3. Lamb Weston Inc Associates of the companies having 
significant influence

4. ConAgra Foods Export Company Associates of the companies having 
significant influence

5. ConAgra Foods S.R.L Associates of the companies having 
significant influence

6. ConAgra Foods Ingredient Associates of the companies having 
significant influence

Key management personnel (KMP)

S.No. Name of the person
1. Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri Whole-time Director

2. Mr. Sachin Gopal President & CEO

3. Mr. Hemant Kumar Ruia CFO, Head of IS and Legal

4. Mr. N. Narasimha Rao Vice-President - Human Resources

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

15. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

B) Particulars of related party transactions

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009

	 -	 Expenses incurred on behalf of the subsidiary  0.02  — 

Transactions with ConAgra Foods Export Company

	 -	 Purchase of materials  60.17  52.77 

Transactions with ConAgra Foods S.R.L

	 -	 Purchase of materials  312.11  204.80 

Transactions with ConAgra Foods Inc

	 -	 Professional charges  21.39  3.82 

	 -	 Royalty  9.54  7.52 

	 -	 Recovery of expenses  9.79  8.57 

	 -	 Income earned on services rendered  10.34  10.81 

Transactions with CAG-Tech (Mauritius) Limited

	 -	 Dividend  17.58  11.72 

Transactions with Lamb Weston Inc
	 -	 Purchase of materials  2.79  32.75 

C) Remuneration to KMP (Refer note (a) below)  34.53  45.97 

Relative of key management personnel

	 -	 Remuneration to Ms. Priti Borkar  —  0.58 

D) The Company has the following amounts due  
from/to related parties:

Receivable from related parties

ConAgra Foods S.R.L  36.05  21.11 

ConAgra Foods Inc  7.64  1.93 

KMP (Loans)  4.94 — 

Payable to related parties

ConAgra Foods Export Company —  9.38 

ConAgra Foods S.R.L  8.35  —

CAG-Tech (Mauritius) Limited  17.58  11.72 

Lamb Weston Inc  0.01  1.26 

Note:
	 (a)	 Remuneration as given above does not include compensated absences, provident fund and gratuity 

benefit accrued since the same are computed based on actuarial valuation for all the employees and 
the amounts attributable to the managerial personnel cannot be ascertained separately.
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15.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

	 xiii)	 Agro Tech Foods Limited Employee Stock Option Plan
		  The Company instituted the ‘Agro Tech Foods Limited Employee Stock Option Plan’ (“Plan”) to grant equity-based 

incentives to its eligible employees.  The Company has established a trust called the ‘Agro Tech ESOP Trust’ (“Trust”) 
to implement the Plan.

	 	 Under the Plan a maximum of 1,218,463 (Previous year: 1,218,463) options will be granted to the eligible employees. 
All these options are planned to be settled in equity at the time of exercise.  These options have an exercise 
price of Rs. 75.10, Rs. 170.10, Rs. 131.70 and Rs. 147.40 per share, granted during the years ended 31 March 2007,  
31 March 2008, 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 respectively and vest on a graded basis as follows:

Vesting period from the grant date  Vesting schedule 
On completion of 12 months 25%
On completion of 24 months 25%
On completion of 36 months 25%
On completion of 48 months 25%

Stock option activity under the Plan was as follows:

For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009 

Number of equity shares:
Outstanding at the beginning of the year  431,370  236,884 
Granted during the year  229,178  226,544 
Excercised during the year  (18,179)  — 
Forfeited during the year  (32,965)  (32,058)
Outstanding at the end of the year  609,404  431,370 

	 The Company follows the intrinsic value method to calculate employee compensation cost. There is no charge to 
the Profit and Loss Account as the exercise price of the shares is greater than or equal to the market value of the 
shares. Amount recoverable from employee stock option trust disclosed in the Balance Sheet represents balance 
recoverable from the trust on account of the shares purchased and held by the trust. 

	 Proforma disclosure
	 In accordance with Securities Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock 

Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 had the compensation cost for stock option plans been recognised based 
on the fair value at the date of grant in accordance with Black Scholes model, the proforma amounts of the 
Company’s net profit and earnings per share would have been as follows:

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2010 

 For the year ended  
31 March 2009 

Profit after taxation
- As reported  251.39  208.48 
- Proforma  235.51  195.07 
Earnings per share
Basic
- Number of shares  24,369,264  24,369,264 
- EPS as reported (Rs.)  10.32  8.56 
- Proforma EPS (Rs.)  9.67  8.00 

The following assumptions were used for calculation of fair value of grants:
For the year ended  

31 March 2010 
 For the year ended  

31 March 2009 
Weighted average fair value (Rs.)  88.52  86.28 
Dividend yield (%)  0.68  — 
Expected volatility (%)  60.18  57.50 
Risk-free interest (%)  7.00  9.19 
Expected term (in years)  5.50 to 7  5.50 to 7 

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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15.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

xiv)	 Segment Reporting
1. 	 The Group considers business segments as the primary segment for reporting. Based on the nature of products 

and services risks and returns, organisation structure and internal financial reporting, the following segments 
have been identified:

	 --- Branded Foods segment includes products sold under the brands of Sundrop, Act II, Crystal, Rath, Sudham 
and Healthy World.

	 --- Sourcing and Institutional Business segment includes oils and agricultural raw materials procurement, Crystal 
and Rath bulk packs, seed buying and processing operations and food service. 

 

Branded Foods Sourcing and  
Institutional Business Unallocable Eliminations Consolidated

31 March  
 2010

31 March  
2009

31 March  
2010

31 March  
2009

31 March  
2010

31 March  
2009

31 March  
2010

31 March  
2009

31 March  
2010

31 March  
2009

Revenue
	 Sales  5,534.27  6,252.79  961.44  1,483.31 — — — —  6,495.71  7,736.10 
	 Total revenue  5,534.27  6,252.79  961.44  1,483.31  — — — —  6,495.71  7,736.10 

Result  511.16  422.58  9.03  25.73 — — — —  520.19  448.31 
Unallocated corporate expenses — — — —  188.32  166.61 — —  188.32  166.61 
Interest — — — — — — — —  0.76  5.36 

Profit before taxation  331.11  276.34 

Provision for tax
	 Current  108.56  43.90 
	 Fringe benefit tax  -  12.96 
	 Deferred  2.94  25.00 
	 MAT credit entitlement  (31.78)  (14.00)
Profit after taxation  251.39  208.48 
Other information
Segment assets  1,250.92  959.20  43.46  66.70 —  — — —  1,294.38  1,025.90 
Unallocated corporate assets — — — —  1,189.40  1,088.21  (14.70)  (14.72)  1,174.70  1,073.49 
Total assets  1,250.92  959.20  43.46  66.70  1,189.40  1,088.21  (14.70)  (14.72)  2,469.08  2,099.39 
Segment liabilities  669.43  491.38  41.62  63.07 — — — —  711.05  554.45 
Unallocated corporate liabilities — — — —  250.65  246.19 — —  250.65  246.19 
Total liabilities  669.43  491.38  41.62  63.07  250.65  246.19  — —  961.70  800.64 
Depreciation and amortisation  20.00  16.47 — — — — — —  20.00  16.47 
Unallocated corporate depreciation — — — —  10.40  7.95 — —  10.40  7.95 
Total depreciation and amortisation  20.00  16.47 — —  10.40  7.95 — —  30.40  24.42 
Capital expenditure  144.80  35.21  — — — — — —  144.80  35.21 
Unallocated capital expenditure — — — —  63.35  35.72 — —  63.35  35.72 
Total capital expenditure  144.80  35.21 — —  63.35  35.72 — —  208.15  70.93 
Non-cash expenditure  4.12  11.16  — — — — — —  4.12  11.16 
Unallocated non-cash expenditure — — — — — — — — — —
Total non-cash expenditure  4.12  11.16 — — — — — —  4.12  11.16 

2.	 Allocation of segment assets and liabilities have been done to the maximum extent possible. 
3.	 Geographical segments considered for disclosure are 
	 -- Sales within India1,299 
	 -- Sales outside India 792,001 
	 The entire activity pertaining to sales outside India is carried out from India. 

Based on geographical segments identified there is no item to be reported under this, since the information 
pertaining to segments results, assets and liabilities and sales outside India is below the threshold limit.

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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15.	 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

	 xv)	 Disclosure regarding Derivative instruments
	 The Company uses forward exchange contracts to hedge against its foreign currency exposures relating to the 

underlying transactions and firm commitments. The use of this foreign exchange forward contracts reduces the 
risk or cost to the Company and the Company does not use the foreign exchange forward contracts for trading 
or speculation purposes.

	 The information on such Derivative instruments is as follows:
	 a) Forward exchange contracts outstanding as at the year end:

(In Millions)

Currency Pair Currency
As at 31 March 2010 As at 31 March 2009

Buy  Sell Buy  Sell 
USD / INR USD  0.19 —  0.14 —

	 b) Foreign exchange currency exposure recognised by the Company that have not been hedged by a derivative 
instrument or otherwise as at the year end:

(In Millions)

Currency Pair Currency
As at 31 March 2010 As at 31 March 2009

Buy  Sell Buy  Sell 
USD / INR USD  0.17  0.05  0.12  0.02 

	
   xvi)	 Previous year figures 
	 Previous year figures have been regrouped/reclassified wherever necessary, to conform to current year  

classification.

		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri 	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	  
	 President	 Director	 Director

Place	:	Gurgaon	 Phani K Mangipudi 
Date	 :	19 May 2010	 Company Secretary

SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)
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auditors’ Report to the MEMBERS OF AGRO TECH FOODS LIMITED

		  for B S R and Associates 
		  Chartered Accountants 
		  Firm Registration Number: 128901W 

		

		  Zubin Shekary  
Place	: Gurgaon	 Partner 
Date	 : 19 May 2010	 Membership No: 48814

1.	 We have audited the attached consolidated 
balance sheet of Agro Tech Foods Limited and 
its subsidiary (“the Company”) as at 31 March 
2010, the consolidated profit and loss account 
and the consolidated cash flow statement for 
the year ended on that date, annexed thereto. 
These consolidated financial statements  
are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these special purpose 
consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit.

2.	 We conducted our audit in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in 
India. Those Standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the special purpose financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement 

presentation. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3.	 We report that the Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been prepared by the 
Company’s Management in accordance with 
the requirements of Accounting Standard 21, 
“Consolidated Financial Statements”, as 
specified in Companies (Accounting Standard) 
Rules, 2006.

4.	 In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, 
the said accounts give the information required 
by the Companies Act, 1956 in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India:

	 a)	 in the case of the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company 
as at 31 March 2010;

	 b)	 in the case of the Consolidated Profit and 
Loss Account, of the profit for the year 
ended on that date; and

	 c)	 in the case of the Consolidated Cash 
Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.
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CONSOLIDATED Cash Flow Statement for the year ended  
31 March 2010 
(all amounts in Indian rupees millions, except share data and where otherwise stated)

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2010 

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2009 

A. Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
Net profit before tax and after exceptional items  331.11  276.34 
Adjustments :
Depreciation and amortisation  30.40  24.42 
(Profit)/Loss on fixed assets discarded/sold (net)  (8.91)  4.18 
Interest (net)  (63.67)  (43.40)
Advances/deposits written off  —  5.48 
Provision for doubtful debts/advances (net)  4.12  5.68 
Sundry claims/excess provisions/unclaimed credits (net)  (0.22)  (45.62)
Exceptional items (net)  —  (40.17)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes and 
exceptional item  292.83  186.91 

Adjustments for :
Decrease/(Increase) in sundry debtors, loans and advances and 
other current assets  (36.99)  155.74 

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories  (138.33)  298.98 
Increase in trade payables  111.43  133.39 

Increase in amount recoverable from employee stock option trust  (19.04)  (30.28)

Cash generated from operations before exceptional item  209.90  744.74 

Income taxes paid (net)  (70.29)  77.83 
Net cash provided by operating activities before  
exceptional item  139.61  822.57 

Exceptional item - Deferred payment liability  —  (5.48)
Exceptional item - Interest on Mantralayam tax refund —  40.17 

Net cash provided by operating activities  139.61  857.26 

B. Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets  (172.88)  (70.95)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  27.80  6.53 
Interest received  47.94  38.98 
Net cash used in investing activities  (97.14)  (25.44)
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For the year ended 
 31 March 2010 

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2009 

C. Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Proceeds from short term loans  228.50  160.00 
Repayment of short term loans  (228.50)  (160.00)
Proceeds/(Repayment) from borrowings —  (112.74)
Interest paid (net)  (0.76)  (7.14)
Dividend paid (Including dividend distribution tax)  (28.16) —

Net cash used in financing activities  (28.92)  (119.88)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  13.55  711.94 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period    
(Refer Schedule 6) 876.82 164.88

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 890.37 876.82 
(Refer Schedule 6)

Note :
	 a)	 The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set out in the Accounting 

Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements, notified under the Companies (Accounting Standard) Rules, 2006.

As per out report attached	
for B S R and Associates		  for Agro Tech Foods Limited
Chartered Accountants	

	 Sachin Gopal	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 Lt. Gen. D.B. Singh	 	
	 President	 Director	 Director

Zubin Shekary 
Partner				    Phani K Mangipudi 
Membership No: 48814			   Company Secretary

Place	 :	 Gurgaon			   Place	 :	 Gurgaon	
Date	 :	 19 May 2010			   Date	 :	 19 May 2010
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Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited

DIRECTORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

The Directors are pleased to present the Twentieth Annual Report for the 

financial year ended 31 March 2010 together with the Balance Sheet 

and the Profit and Loss Account.

OPERATIONS

During the year under review, the Company did not undertake any 

trading/ Manufacturing Operations. As stated in the report for last year, 

the Company is exploring various viable business options for entry in 

the near future. The operating results are as under.

	 2009-10	 2008-09

	 Rupees	 Rupees

Profit/(Loss) before Taxation	 (13,432)	 (13,336)

Income Tax	  —	  —

Profit/(Loss) after Tax	 (13,432)	 (13,336)

Profit brought forward 	 (5,249,602)	  (5,236,266)

Profit/(Loss) available for Appropriation

and carried forward 	  (5,263,034)	  (5,249,602)

DIRECTORS

Mr. Chetankumar Borkar resigned as a Director during the year. The 

Directors place on record their appreciation of the valuable services 

rendered and wise counsel given by him during their tenure of office 

as Directors. 

Pursuant to Section 255 of the Companies Act, 1956, Dr. Pradip Ghosh 

Chaudhuri retires at the Twentieth Annual General Meeting and being 

eligible offers himself for re-appointment.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

As per the provision of Section 217 (2AA) of the Companies Act, 1956, 

the Directors state:

i)	 That in the preparation of the annual accounts for the year ended 

31 March 2010, the applicable accounting standards have been 

followed and that no material departures have been made from 

the same.

ii)	 They have selected such accounting policies and applied 

them consistently and made judgments and estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 

state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year 

ended and at the loss of the Company for that period.

iii)	 They have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of 

adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 

of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for 

preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

iv)	 They have prepared the annual accounts for the year ended 31 

March 2010, on a going concern basis.

AUDITORS

M/s. B S R and Co., Chartered Accountants, are recommended for  

appointment as the Statutory Auditors of the Company, to hold  

office from the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting until  

the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, 

in place of M/s. B S R and Associates, retiring Auditors, who have not 

offered themselves for reappointment as Auditors of the Company. 

The Company has received a certificate from them to the effect that 

their appointment, if made, would be within the limits prescribed under 

Section 224 (1) of the Companies Act, 1956.

COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1998

The Company had no activities relating to the Conservation of Energy, 

Technology Absorption and did not have any foreign exchange 

earnings or outflow during the year under review.

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

The Company had no employee covered by Sub Section (2A) of Section 

217 of the Companies Act, 1956 read with Companies (Particulars of 

Employees) Rules, 1975.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Your Directors wish to place on record their appreciation for the 

contribution and support received from various agencies during the 

year.

		  for Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited

 

	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 N. Narasimha Rao 
	 Director	 Director

Place: Gurgaon 
Date	: 17 May 2010

AgroTech_AR09_2010_FF_24_6.indd   88 6/26/2010   12:19:13 PM



89

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HEERA SEEDS 
TRADING AND WAREHOUSING LIMITED

1.	 We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Heera Seeds Trading and 
Warehousing Limited (“the Company”) as at 31 March 2010, the Profit and Loss 
Account and the Cash Flow Statement of the Company for the year ended on 
that date, annexed thereto. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit.

2.	 We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in India. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

3.	 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 (‘the Order’), as 
amended, issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-section 
(4A) of section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956, we enclose in the Annexure, a 
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4.	 Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we 
report that: 

	 i)	 We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the 
best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our 
audit;

	 ii)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been 
kept by the Company so far as appears from our examination of those 
books; 

	 iii)	 the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement 
dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account;

	 iv)	 in our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow 
Statement dealt with by this report comply with the accounting standards 
referred to in sub-section (3C) of section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
to the extent applicable;

	 v)	 on the basis of written representations received from the Directors, as  
on 31 March 2010, and taken on record by the Board of Directors,  
we report that none of the Directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2010 
from being appointed as a Director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956; and

	 vi)	 in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to 
the explanations given to us, the said accounts give the information  
required by the Companies Act, 1956, in the manner so required and give 
a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India: 

		  a)	in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company  
as at 31 March 2010; and

		  b)	 in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the loss for the year  
ended on that date.

		  c)	 in the case of Cash Flow Statement, of the Cash Flows of the Company 
for the year ended on that date.

For B S R and Associates
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number: 128901W

Zubin Shekary 
Place	: Gurgaon				    Partner
Date	 : 17 May 2010		  Membership No: 48814

ANNEXURE TO THE AUDITORS’ REPORT
The Annexure referred to in the auditors’ report to the members of Heera Seeds 
Trading and Warehousing Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 March 
2010. We report that:

1.	 The Company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, 
to or from Companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained 
under Section 301 of the Act.

2.	 According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no 
contracts and arrangements the particulars of which need to be entered into 
the register maintained under section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956. 

3.	 The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the 
meaning of Sections 58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there 
under.

4.	 The Company does not have an internal audit system during this year.

5.	 The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records 
under section 209(1)(d) of the Companies Act, 1956.

6.	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of 
our examination of the records of the Company, amounts deducted/accrued 
in the books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including 
income tax and other material statutory dues have been regularly deposited 
during the year by the Company with the appropriate authorities. As explained 
to us, the Company did not have any dues on account of provident fund, 
employees’ state insurance, sales-tax, wealth tax, service tax, customs duty, 
excise duty and investor education and protection fund.

	 Further, there were no dues on account of cess under Section 441A of the Act, 
since the date from which the aforesaid section comes into force has not yet 
been notified by the Central Government. 

	 According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed 
amounts payable in respect of provident fund, employees’ state insurance, 
income tax, sales tax, wealth tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty, cess 
and other material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2010 for a 
period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

7.	 According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no dues 
of income tax, sales tax, wealth tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty and 
cess which have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on 
account of any dispute.

8.	 The accumulated losses of the Company as at 31 March 2010 are less than 
fifty percent of its net worth. Company has incurred cash losses in the financial 
year and in the immediately preceding financial year.

9.	 The Company did not have any outstanding dues to any financial institution, 
banks or debenture holders during the year.

10.	 The Company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of 
security by way of pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.

11.	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, 
the Company is not a chit fund or a nidhi/ mutual benefit fund/ society.

12.	 According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is 
not dealing or trading in shares, securities, debentures and other investments.

13.	 According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial 
institutions.

14.	 The Company did not have any term loans outstanding during the year.

15.	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall 
examination of the Balance Sheet of the Company, we are of the opinion 
that the funds raised on short-term basis have not been used for long-term 
investment.

16.	 The Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to 
companies/firms/parties covered in the register maintained under Section 
301 of the Companies Act, 1956.

17.	 The Company did not have any outstanding debentures during the year.

18.	 The Company has not raised any money by public issues.

19.	 According to the information and explanations given to us, no fraud on or by 
the Company has been noticed or reported during the course of our audit.

20.	 The other clauses, (i), (ii) and (iv) of paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s 
Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, are not applicable in the case of the Company 
for the current year, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be 
reported in the aforesaid order.

For B S R and Associates
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number: 128901W

Zubin Shekary 
Place	: Gurgaon				    Partner
Date	 : 17 May 2010		  Membership No: 48814
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As per out report attached
for B S R and Associates	 for Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited
Chartered Accountants	
	

Zubin Shekary	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri		  N Narsimha Rao 
Partner	 Director			   Director 	
Membership No: 48814		   
		   

Place	 : Gurgaon	 Place	 : Gurgaon 
Date	 : 17 May 2010	 Date	 : 17 May 2010

Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2010
(all amounts in Indian rupees, except share data and where otherwise stated)

Schedule As at 
31 March 2010 

As at 
31 March 2009

1.	SOURCES OF FUNDS

		  Shareholders’ funds

		  Share capital 1 20,000,000 20,000,000 

 20,000,000  20,000,000 

II.	APPLICATION OF FUNDS

		  Current assets 
loans & advances

		  Sundry debtors 2 7,193,941 7,193,941 

		  Cash and bank balances 3 57,819 58,015 

		  Loans and advances 4 7,502,758 7,527,230 

14,754,518 14,779,186 
    Less:
      Current liabilities & provisions  

		  Current liabilities 5 13,236 24,472 

		  Provisions 6 4,316 4,316 

17,552 28,788 

		  Net current assets 14,736,966 14,750,398 

 		  Profit and Loss Account 5,263,034 5,249,602 

20,000,000 20,000,000 

		  Significant accounting policies  8(i)

		  Notes to accounts 8

The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 March 2010
(all amounts in Indian rupees, except share data and where otherwise stated)

Schedule
For the year 

ended  
31 March 2010 

For the year  
ended  

31 March 2009

INCOME 
Other income  — —

— — 
EXPENDITURE 
Administration
and selling expenses 7 13,432 13,336 

13,432 13,336 
Loss before taxation  (13,432)  (13,336)
Provision for taxation — —

Loss after taxation  (13,432)  (13,336)

Loss brought forward  (5,249,602)  (5,236,266)

Balance in Profit and
Loss Account brought forward  (5,263,034)  (5,249,602)

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted -  
Par value Rs.10 per share (0.01) (0.01)

Significant accounting policies  8 (i)
Notes to accounts 8

The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Profit and Loss Account

As per out report attached
for B S R and Associates	 for Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited
Chartered Accountants	
	

Zubin Shekary	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri		  N Narsimha Rao 
Partner	 Director			   Director 	
Membership No: 48814		   
		   

Place	 : Gurgaon	 Place	 : Gurgaon 
Date	 : 17 May 2010	 Date	 : 17 May 2010
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Schedule 4: Loans and advances   
(Unsecured )

Considered good

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind  7,502,758  7,527,230 
or for value to be received

 7,502,758  7,527,230 

Schedule 5: Current liabilities

Sundry creditors
	 -	 dues to micro and small enterprises  — — 
	 -	 others  13,236  24,472 

 13,236  24,472 

Schedule 6: Provisions

Provision for taxation  
(net of advance tax )  4,316  4,316 

  4,316  4,316 

Schedule 7: Administration and selling  
expenses

 For the year 
ended  

31 March 2010 

 For the year 
ended  

31 March 2009 
Auditors’ remuneration:
	 -	 Audit fee  13,236  13,236 
	 -	 Others  — — 
 Bank/finance charges  196  100 

 13,432  13,336 

Schedules to the accounts 
 As at  

 31 March 2010 
 As at  

 31 March 2009 
Schedule 1: Share capital

Authorised:
2,000,000 (previous year: 2,000,000) 
equity shares of Rs. 10 each 20,000,000 20,000,000 

20,000,000 20,000,000 

Issued:
2,000,000 (previous year: 2,000,000)
equity shares of Rs. 10 each 20,000,000 20,000,000

Subscribed and paid-up:
2,000,000 (previous year: 2,000,000) 
equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up 20,000,000 20,000,000 

(All the above shares are held by the  
holding Company, Agro Tech Foods  
Limited and its Nominees) 

20,000,000 20,000,000 

Schedule 2: Sundry debtors
(Unsecured and considered good)

Debts outstanding for a period  
exceeding six months 7,193,941 7,193,941 

Other debts  —  — 

7,193,941 7,193,941

Schedule 3: Cash and bank balances

Cash on hand  711  711 
Balances with scheduled banks
	 -	 in current accounts 57,108 57,304 

57,819 58,015

Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited
(all amounts in Indian rupees, except share data and where otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 8

(i) STATEMENT ON SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF ACCOUNTS
The financial statements of Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited have 
been prepared and presented in accordance with Indian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) under the historical cost convention on the accrual 
basis. GAAP comprises accounting standards notified by the Central Government 
of India under Section 211 (3C) of the Companies Act, 1956, other pronouncements 
of Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the relevant provisions of 
Companies Act, 1956.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing the net profit after 
tax for the year by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year. 

INCOME-TAX EXPENSE
Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax charge or credit.

Current tax
The current charge for income taxes is calculated in accordance with the relevant 
tax regulations applicable to the Company.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax charge or credit reflects the tax effects of timing differences  
between accounting income and taxable income for the period. The deferred  
tax charge or credit and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities or assets are 
recognized using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted  
by the Balance Sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent 
there is reasonable certainty that the assets can be realized in future; however, 
where there is unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses, deferred  
tax assets are recognized only if there is a virtual certainty of realization of  
such assets. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date  
and is written-down or written-up to reflect the amount that is reasonably/virtually 
certain (as the case may be) to be realized. The break-up of the major components 
of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as at Balance Sheet date has been  
arrived at after setting off deferred tax assets and liabilities where the Company  
has a legally enforceable right to set-off assets against liabilities and where  
such assets and liabilities relate to taxes on income levied by the same governing 
taxation laws.

		  for Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited

 
	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri	 N. Narasimha Rao 
	 Director	 Director

Place	: Gurgaon 
Date	 : 17 May 2010
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    B) Particulars of related party transactions

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions:

Particulars
For the year 

ended  
31 March 2010

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2009
Agro Tech Foods Limited
- Expenses paid on behalf of the 
Company  24,472  — 

C) The Company has the following amounts due from / to related parties:

As at  
31 March 2010

As at  
31 March 2009

Receivable from related parties
Agro Tech Foods Limited
Sundry debtors  7,193,941  7,193,941 
Loans and advances  7,502,758  7,527,230 

 v)	  Segment information 
	 As the Company has not carried out any business operations during the year, 

presentation of segment information, in the context of Accounting Standard 
17 on Segment information, is not applicable.

 vi)	 Information with regard to matters specified in clauses 3, 4, 4A, 4B, 4C and 4D 
of Part II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956, to the extent that they are 
either ‘NIL’ or ‘Not applicable’ to the Company, has not been given.

 vii)	 Comparative figures of the previous year have been regrouped, wherever 
necessary, to conform to those of the current year.

	

8.	Notes to accounts

 ii)     The Company is exploring various viable business options and as a result,these 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

 iii)   Earnings per share

	    Computation of earnings per share (EPS):

Particulars
For the year 

ended  
31 March 2010

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2009

Loss after taxation  (13,432)  (13,336)
Weighted average number of equity 
shares of Rs. 10 each outstanding 
during the year

 2,000,000  2,000,000 

Earnings per share of par value 
Rs. 10 (Basic and Diluted) (0.01) (0.01)

Since, the Company does not have any potential equity shares hence, the 
basic and diluted earnings per share are the same.

 iv) Related party transactions

       A) Parties where control exists

S.No Name of the Company Relationship

1 Agro Tech Foods Limited Holding Company

	
	 for Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited

	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri		  N Narsimha Rao 
	 Director			   Director 	
	  
		   

Place	: Gurgaon	  
Date	 : 17 May 2010	

Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited
(all amounts in Indian rupees, except share data and where otherwise stated)

 For the year 
ended   

31 March 2010 

 For the year 
ended   

31 March 2009 

Cash flows from/(used in) operating 
activities
Net loss before tax  (13,432)  (13,336)
Adjustments :
Decrease in sundry debtors, loans and 
advances  24,472 — 

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables  (11,236)  13,236 
Net cash used in operating activities  (196)  (100)

Cash flows from/(used in) investing 
activities  —  — 

Cash flows from/(used in) financing 
activities  —  — 

Net decrease in cash and cash equiva-
lents  (196)  (100)

Cash and cash equivalents at the begin-
ning of the period  (Refer Schedule 3)  58,015  58,115 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the period (Refer Schedule 3)  57,819  58,015 

Note :
	 a)	 The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the “Indirect 

Method” as set out in the Accounting Standard - 3 on Cash Flow 
Statements, notified under the Companies (Accounting Standard) 
Rules, 2006.

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2010

(all amounts in Indian rupees, except share data and where otherwise stated)

As per out report attached
for B S R and Associates	 for Heera Seeds Trading and Warehousing Limited
Chartered Accountants	
	

Zubin Shekary	 Dr. Pradip Ghosh Chaudhuri		  N Narsimha Rao 
Partner	 Director			   Director 	
Membership No: 48814		   
		   

Place	 : Gurgaon	 Place	 : Gurgaon 
Date	 : 17 May 2010	 Date	 : 17 May 2010
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Tear Here

Regd. Office: 31, Sarojini Devi Road, Secunderabad-500 003.

Attendance Slip

To be handed over at the entrance of the Meeting Hall

I hereby record my presence at the TwentY THIRD Annual General Meeting held at Residency Hall, Hotel Green 

Park, Greenlands, Hyderabad on 28th July, 2010 at 10.00 A.M.

 	  Folio No./ Client ID/DPID No....................................................

.

	 Full Name of the Shareholder	 Signature
	 (in block letters)

	 * Full Name of Proxy	 Signature
	 (in block letters)	

* (To be filled in if the Proxy attends instead of the Member)

...................................................... ......................................................

...................................................... ......................................................

Affix Rs. 1  
Revenue 
Stamp
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Regd. Office: 31, Sarojini Devi Road, Secunderabad-500 003.

Proxy Form

I/We_____________________________________________ of___________________________________________________being

a Member/Members of Agro Tech Foods Limited holding shares in Folio No./ Client ID/DPID

No__________________________ hereby appoint________________________________ of______________________________

______________________________________or failing him______________________________ of_________________________

or failing him_____________________________________ of______________________ as my/our Proxy to attend and vote 

for me/us and on my/our behalf at the TwentY THIRD ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the said Company to be held 
on 28th July, 2010 at 10.00 A.M. and at any adjournment thereof.

Signed this_____________________day of________________________________ 2010.

Signature (s) of the Shareholder (s)________________________________________

N.B.	 i)	 This form must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not later than 48 hours before 
the time of the Meeting.

	 ii)	 A PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER.
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FORM FOR NECS MANDATE/BANK MANDATE

I/We 	_______________________________________________ do hereby authorise Agro Tech Foods Limited 
to Credit my dividend amount directly to my Bank Account as per details furnished below by National 
Electronic Clearing Service (NECS) – NECS Mandate.*

Print the details of my Bank Account as furnished below, on my dividend warrant which will be mailed 
to me – Bank Mandate. *

(*Strike out whichever is not applicable)

1.	 Shareholder’s Name	 :	 _____________________________________________  
(In Block Letters)

2.	 Folio No.	 :	 _____________________________________________ 	

3.	 No. of Shares	 :	 _____________________________________________

4.	 Bank Name	 :	 _____________________________________________

5.	 Branch Name	 :	 _____________________________________________

6.	 Account Number	 :	 _____________________________________________ 	
	 (as appearing on Cheque Book)

7. 	 Ledger Folio No. of the Account	 :		 ____________________________________________ 
(if appearing on Cheque Book)	

8.	 Account type [Please tick]	 :	 S.B. 	 Current            Cash Credit 

9.	 9-Digit Code Number of the Bank	 :		 ____________________________________________	 
& Branch appearing on the MICR  
Cheque issued by the Bank  
(Please attach photocopy of a  
cheque or a blank cancelled  
cheque issued by your Bank  
relating to your above account  
for verifying the accuracy of the  
code number)

I/ We hereby declare that the particulars given above are correct and complete. If the transaction is 
delayed or not effected at all for reasons beyond the control of the Company, I /We would not hold 
AGRO TECH FOODS LIMITED responsible.

Date :	 Signature of the Sole/First Shareholder 
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